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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA  

  

Case No. 5:20-CR-28-MW/MJF  

  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  

  

 v.                   

  

JAMES D. FINCH,  

  

Defendant.  

                                                           /  

  

DEFENDANT FINCH’S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF AQUITTAL  

  

  Defendant Finch respectfully moves the Court for judgment of acquittal under  

Rule 29(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure as to Counts 1 and 2 of the 

Third Superseding Indictment.  The motion should be granted, as the evidence is 

insufficient to sustain a conviction on either count.     

 The Court “must enter a judgment of acquittal on any offense for which the evidence 

is insufficient to sustain a conviction.”  Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(a); see also Hesser v. 

United States, 40 F.4th 1221, 1228-29 (11th Cir. 2022) (“[W]e have an equal 

obligation under Fed. R. Crim. P. 29 to think about whether, having viewed the 

evidence in the Government’s favor, the Government proved its case beyond a 

reasonable doubt to a ‘rational trier of fact.’” (emphasis added)).  A review of all the 

evidence indicates that there is insufficient to sustain a conviction.  Therefore, a 

judgement of acquittal should be granted as to both counts.  
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 I.  Insufficient Evidence on All Counts  

A. Count 1 – Conspiracy – Insufficient Evidence of an Agreement  

The Court’s draft Jury Instructions (the “Jury Instructions”), ECF No. 498, 

provide in pertinent part:   

  The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all the following facts 

are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:   

(1) Defendant James David Finch and Antonius Genzarra Barnes in 

some way agreed together to try to accomplish a shared and unlawful 

plan, specifically, to commit offenses under Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 666(a)(2), as described in paragraph 9b of the indictment;  

(2) the Defendant knew the unlawful purpose of the plan and willfully 

joined in it;  

(3) during the conspiracy, one of the conspirators knowingly engaged 

in at least one overt act as described in the indictment; and  

(4) the overt act was committed at or about the time alleged and with 

the purpose of carrying out or accomplishing some object of the 

conspiracy.   

  

ECF No. 498 at 7-8.  

  

There is insufficient evidence to support that any of the alleged coconspirators 

actually agreed to engage in bribery.  A conspiracy to commit bribery requires an 

illegal agreement between or among the alleged co-conspirators to engage in bribery.  

Yet, Mr. Antonius Barnes, one of the two alleged conspirators – and a cooperating 

government witness – has denied any bribery agreement between himself and Mr. 

Finch.  Mr. Barnes specifically testified that:   
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• He did not sell his vote at any time.  Trial Tr. Vol 2. 352:20-22; 358:23-25  

• Defendant Finch did not buy his vote at any time.  Id. at 325: 23-24  

• He never possessed a corrupt state of mind.  Id. at 325:25-326:2  

• Defendant Finch never said anything or did anything at any point to make Mr. 

Barnes think Defendant Finch intended to bribe him.  Id. at 362:3-5.   

  

In addition to there being insufficient evidence that Mr. Barnes and Mr. Finch 

specifically intended and agreed to enter into an illegal conspiracy to violate 18  

U.S.C. Section 666, there is also insufficient evidence that Mr. Finch “knew the 

unlawful purpose of the plan and willfully joined it.”  The evidence demonstrates 

that there was no illegal agreement, unlawful purpose, or meeting of minds that could 

sustain a conviction for conspiracy.  See United States v. Young, 39 F.3d 1561, 1566  

(11th Cir. 1994)  (“It is axiomatic that mere association, without more, cannot give 

rise to a conspiracy conviction.”).    

B. Insufficient Evidence of a Federal Benefit  

Here, the City’s receipt of federal benefits is an essential element of the 

charges against Defendant Finch.  The Government presented evidence that the City 

received federal funds, but “an organization is not a beneficiary of a federal program 

merely because the organization receives federal funds.”  Fischer v. United States, 
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529 U.S. 667, 682 (2000) (emphasis added).   A conviction for violating and for 

conspiring to violate Section 666 requires more.  

3 

“To determine whether an organization participating in a federal assistance 

program receives ‘benefits,’ an examination must be undertaken of the program’s 

structure, operation, and purpose.”  Fischer, 529 U.S. at 681.  And “there must be a 

nexus between the funds and their ultimate use to satisfy § 666.”1  United States v. 

McLean, 802 F.3d 1228, 1240 (11th Cir. 2015) (“In other words, to constitutionally 

cabin § 666 courts must evaluate a federal program’s ‘structure, operation, and 

purpose’ to determine if the federal receipts qualify as benefits.  Failure to conduct 

this necessary investigation violates Fischer’s admonition that § 666 is not a 

boundless statute that applies to virtually every state bribery or fraud case.”) 

(emphasis added); see also United States v. Edgar, 304 F.3d 1320, 1325 (11th Cir.  

2002) (“After Fischer, it is clear that the term ‘benefits’ encompasses only federal 

funds expended under sufficiently comprehensive programs.  Application of this 

standard is to be guided by reference to a program’s ‘structure, operation, and 

purpose,’ as well as the conditions under which recipient entities receive funds.”);  

 
1 The question of whether there exists a nexus between federal funds and the ultimate 

use of the funds (which is required) and whether there exists a nexus between federal 

funds and an alleged bribe or fraud (which is not required) is independent question.  

  

4 
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United States v. Atalig, No. 1:18-cr-00013, 2020 WL 5096979, at *3-5 (D. N. 

Mariana Islands Aug. 31, 2020) (citing McLean for proposition that a nexus is 

required between federal funds and their ultimate use, finding that municipal  

  
government pooled monies and no evidence of ultimate use of federal funds, and 

granting motion for judgment of acquittal based on lack of evidence of a Section 666 

federal benefit).2  

Here, the Government presented generic evidence that the City indirectly 

received funds from federal agencies but failed to present evidence of the structure, 

operation, and purpose of the federal programs.  The Government likewise failed to 

present evidence of a nexus between the funds received and their ultimate use.  

Many of the government witnesses testified about the State of Florida’s 

component and participation.  For instance, Joel Schubert testified that Lynn Haven 

received a grant through FEMA and the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program to 

 
2 See United States v. Copeland, 143 F.3d 1439, 1442 (11th Cir. 1998) (“Punishing 

the Appellants’ conduct might further the statute’s goal of protecting the integrity of 

federal funds, but it is not the role of this Court to expand the scope of § 666 to 

encompass such behavior . . . .  The Government failed to prove that Lockheed is an 

organization that received, in any one year period, benefits in excess of $10,000 

under a federal program . . . .  Accordingly, we vacate the Defendants’ convictions 

for bribery under 18 U.S.C. § 666 and § 2.”).   
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purchase a generator for an emergency operations facility. See Trial Tr. Vol. 1 at 

9598.  However, Mr. Schubert gave no testimony concerning the structure, 

operation, and purpose of FEMA or the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program.  Id.  

Further, Mr. Schubert gave no testimony to evidence that the funds received were 

ultimately used to purchase the generator.  Id.  The funds just as likely could have 

been intermingled  

  
in the City’s general funds and ultimately used for something unrelated to a 

generator.  The same is true for Pamela Price’s testimony.  See Tr. Vol. 2 at 419427.   

Joel Schubert also testified that the City received a grant through the United  

States Department of Justice’s Justice Assistance Grant Program.  See Tr. Vol 1 at 

95-98.  But again, Mr. Schubert gave no testimony concerning the structure, 

operation, and purpose of Justice Assistance Grant Program.  He indicated he was 

only “generally” familiar with the program and thought the City “probably” applied 

for a grant.  And Mr. Schubert again gave no testimony to evidence how the funds 

received, if any, were ultimately used.  Likewise, Codi Menacof’s testimony is 

devoid of the requisite evidence concerning the structure, operation, and purpose of 

the Department of Justice’s Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant.  See 

Tr. Vol. 2 at 427-433.    
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Lastly, Holly Edmond, testified that Lynn Haven received a grant assistance 

with a shoreline stabilization project at Kensaul Park.  Id. at 301-302.  Although Ms.  

Edmond provided testimony about the State’s application process and passthrough 

mechanics, she gave no testimony about a federal program’s structure, operation, 

and purpose’ to determine if the federal receipts qualify as benefits.  

Finally, the question of whether federal funds constitute the requisite federal 

benefit cannot be left to jurors’ exercise of common sense and reliance on general  

6 

knowledge.  Doing so would allow jurors to substitute extra-record knowledge for 

gaps in the Government’s evidence and would relieve the Government of its burden 

of proving an essential element of the offense.  United States v. Bravo-Fernandez, 

913 F.3d 244, 248-51 (1st Cir. 2019) (reversing Section 666 conviction and directing 

district court to enter a judgment of acquittal).  

In short, the Court must “‘scrutinize the actual evidence’ the government 

presented as to whether federal funds rise to the level of ‘benefits.’”  United States 

v. Doran, 854 F.3d 1312, 1322 (11th Cir. 2017) (J. Prior, concurring).  The lack of 

evidence precludes an examination of whether any federal funds qualify as federal 

benefits, and thus, the evidence is insufficient for any rational trier of fact to sustain 

a conviction.  Therefore, the Court should enter a judgment of acquittal as to Counts 

1 and 2.  See McLean, 802 F.3d at 1248 (affirming judgment of acquittal based lack 
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of evidence of a Section 666 federal benefit); Bravo-Fernandez, 913 F.3d 248-51 

(reversing Section 666 conviction and directing district court to enter a judgment of 

acquittal based on lack of evidence of a Section 666 federal benefit); Atalig, 2020 

WL 5096979, at *3-5 (granting motion for judgment of acquittal based on lack of 

evidence of a Section 666 federal benefit); see also Doran, 854 F.3d 1322  

(concurring in judgment reversing conviction based on lack of evidence of a Section  

666 federal benefit) (J. Prior, concurring).  
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C. Insufficient Evidence of Corrupt Intent  

For Count 2, the substantive bribery count, there is insufficient evidence that 

Finch engaged in any bribery, much less with the corrupt intent required for 

conviction.  To convict Defendant Finch, the government must show beyond a 

reasonable doubt that:   

(1) that Antonius Genzarra Barnes was an agent of the City of Lynn  

Haven;  

(2) that the City of Lynn Haven was a local government that received 

in any one-year period benefits in excess of $10,000 under a Federal 

program involving a grant, a contract, a subsidy, a loan, a guarantee, 

insurance, or any other form of Federal assistance;   

(3) that during the one-year period, the Defendant gave or offered 

something of value to Antonius Genzarra Barnes with the intent to 

influence or reward Antonius Genzarra Barnes in connection with 

any business, transaction, or series of transactions of the City of 

Lynn Haven, involving something of value of $5,000 or more; and 

(4) that in so doing, the Defendant acted corruptly.  
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ECF No. 498 at 10 (emphasis added).  Concealment of bribes is traditionally 

powerful evidence of corrupt intent.  United States v. Roberson, 998 F.3d 1237, 1249 

(citing United States v. McNair, 605 F.3d 1152, 1197 (11th Cir. 2010)).  In Roberson, 

the Defendant challenged the sufficiency of evidence for a conviction under 18 

U.S.C. § 666(a)(2), but in affirming the conviction the Eleventh Circuit held that the 

nature, timing, secret recording, and routing of payments through charitable 

foundations and a law firm allowed for reasonable inferences of corrupt intent.    

Here, there is no evidence that Defendant Finch concealed the principal loan 

disbursements to Mr. Barnes.  The nature of the loan was legitimate.  The timing  

8 

was legitimate.  There were no secret recordings.  All payments were made via 

check.  The memo line on five out of the seven checks indicated that it was part of 

their loan agreement.  Six of the seven checks were deposited into Mr. Barnes’ 

business bank accounts.  All checks were written between (1) the time Mr. Barnes 

was trying to re-launch his insurance business in September 2015 and (2) the settling 

and winding down of his business affairs in late-2017, early-2018.   Not a single 

government witness testified that the checks were intended for any other purpose 

than for use to support Mr. Barnes’ insurance business.   

WHEREFORE, Defendant James D. Finch respectfully moves for the entry 

of a Judgment of Acquittal on Counts 1 and 2 of the Third Superseding Indictment.   
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Respectfully submitted,  

  /s/ Guy A. Lewis  

Guy A. Lewis   

Florida Bar No. 623740  

Jeffrey M. Forman  

Florida Bar No. 105135  

The Law Offices of Guy A. Lewis PLLC  

12575 SW 67th Avenue  

Pinecrest, Florida 33156 954-688-

6340 glewis@lewistein.com 

jforman@lewistein.com  

  

Counsel for Defendant,  James D. Finch  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on March 15, 2023, the foregoing document was 

with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF and that a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing has been served electronically via the CM/ECF System on all counsel of 

record.  

/s/ Guy A. Lewis  

 
GUY A. LEWIS  
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